FILE COPY



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA AT CHARLESTON

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

RESPONDENT

VS

CASE No. 19-104

RONALD WARD

PETITIONER

CASE NUMBERS BELOW 19-F-8 AND 19-F-37 CIRCUIT COURT OFSUMMERS COUNTY

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Scott A. Ash, Esq. PO Box 748 Athens, West Virginia 24712 304-920-8803 YourWVlawyer@gmail.com

State Bar No.0172

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner Ronald Ward was driving on State Route 20 near Talcott, Summers County, West Virginia on November 26, 2018, when he was stopped by Deputy J.C. Wheeler. The deputy recognized Petitioner from a prior contact and knew that Petitioner's driver's license was revoked for driving under the influence. During the traffic stop Dep. Wheeler noted that the truck being operated by Petitioner did not have mandatory insurance, correct registration or valid MVI sticker; however, it did contain a firearm and small amount of what the deputy believed to be methamphetamine, a controlled substance. When the deputy discovered that Petitioner also had a 2006 felony conviction from Clinton County, Indiana, Petitioner was charged with a violation of West Virginia Code 61-7-7(b), "Felon in Possession of a Firearm". Ultimately the jury believed that the firearm was in the possession of Petitioner and he was convicted.

The 2006 conviction was used as a predicate felony offense in the indictment herein was for a violation of Indiana Code Section IC 35-48-4-6.1 which states, in part:

Sec.6.19(a) A person who, without a valid prescription or order of a practitioner acting in the course of the practitioner's professional practice, knowingly or intentionally possesses methamphetamine (pure or adulterated) commits possession of methamphetamine, a Class D felony, except as provided in subsection (b). (App.19)

West Virginia also has a code section outlawing the simple possession of methamphetamine and it is 60A-4-401(c). That describes the simple possession of methamphetamine as a misdemeanor punishable by no more than 180 days in jail and fine.

PROCEDURIAL HISTORY AND ISSUE FOR APPEAL

Petitioner Ward was indicted by the March 2019 term of the Summers County Grand Jury and charged with a felony violation of West Virginia Code 61-7-7: Felon in Possession of a Firearm. (App. 12-14) Other counts in the indictment were for misdemeanor driving offenses and misdemeanor possession of a controlled substance. The misdemeanor charges are not the subject of the appeal herein. The driving charges resulted in convictions; however, those matters have been resolved by a "time served" sentence and the convictions were not affected by any error. (App. 2-4) The misdemeanor charge of possession of a controlled substance was dismissed by the trial court at the conclusion of the State's case.

The Felon in Possession of a Firearm charge was the subject of Petitioner's "Motion to Strike Count 1 of the Indictment" filed on May 12, 2019 (App. 20-22). In that motion and the hearing of that motion, Petitioner argued that the first count of the indictment was defective for 2 reasons:

- Inartful drafting rendered the charge so vague as to fail to advise Petitioner of the nature and degree of the charges; and
- Use of the predicate felony conviction from the State of Indiana was improper as the out of State conviction would not have considered a felony und er West Virginia law.

The State did not make a written response to the above described motion. After hearing the trial court took the motion under the advisement then issued an opinion on June 7th in

which Petitioner's "Motion to Strike Count 1 of the Indictment" was granted on the first ground which alleged defective drafting. The trial court's written opinion did not mention or resolve the second issue as to determining the grade of the offense for purposes of charging "Felon in Possession of a Firearm". (App. 23-25)

The State thereafter represented the charge" Felon in Possession of a Firearm" in violation of West Virginia Code 61-7-7(b) to the July Term of the Grand Jury, which returned a one count indictment to that charge. That case was designated 19-F-37. (App. 15)

Still seeking a ruling on the use of the prior Indiana conviction as the predicate offense,

Petitioner filed a motion with short memorandum of law entitled "Motion to Dismiss". (App.

26-28). The State did not a response to this second motion. The motion was argued on July 27,

2019, after which the trial court took the motion under advisement. The lower court's "Order

Denying Motion to Dismiss" was issued on October 2, 2019 and rested on statutory

construction: holding that the word "shall" in the statute meant "shall" and that it need not

look any further. (App. 29-32).

Indictment Nos. 19-F-8, containing the misdemeanor charges unaffected by the first dismissal motion and order, and 19-F-37 were consolidated for trial which was had on October 11, 2019. The jury returned guilty verdicts on all charges deliberated by them. Petitioner filed a

"Motion for Judgement of Acquittal" based on prior arguments he made prior to and during trial regarding the use of the Indiana conviction being deemed a felony for purposes of the "Felon in Possession of a Firearm".

Prior to sentencing and in a timely manner, the State filed an Information charging him with a second offense enhancement under the Habitual Offender Act, West Virginia Code 61-11-18 and 19. (App. 16-18). After time to consult with counsel, Petitioner admitted that he was the same person previously convicted in Summers County case 13-F-22. That case used as the predicate offense to designate Petitioner a second time offender was a conviction for attempt to commit a felony. That attempt conviction was pleaded down from a 2013 charge of "Felon in Possession of a Firearm" based on the very same 2006 Indiana conviction now at issue before this Honorable Court.

At the November 1, 2019 hearing the trial court denied Petitioner's "Motion for Acquittal" and Petitioner was sentenced to a determinate sentence of 5 years, which sentence was enhanced under the Habitual Offender Act with another 5-year sentence to constitute a 10-year determine sentence. The misdemeanor traffic convictions were also sentenced that day to time served meaning that Petitioner's 10-year flat prison term began on November 1st (App. 2-4).

It is from the trial court's denial of two motions to dismiss the gun charge and the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal that Petitioner now appeals.

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTIONS TO DISMISS BASED ON THE STATE'S USE OF THE INDIANA CONVICTION AS A PREDICATE OFFENSE VOIDING PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO POSSESS A FIREARM

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue before the Court is entirely a matter of law and as such the standard of review is *de novo*. State v Brandon B., 624 S.E.2d 761 (W.Va. 2005)

ARGUEMENT OF LAW

The trial court erred by denying Petitioner's motions to dismiss based on the State's use of the Indiana conviction as a predicate offense voiding petition's right to possess a firearm. In 2006 Petitioner was convicted in the State of Indiana of the simple possession of methamphetamine. Had that conviction been in the West Virginia it would have been classified a misdemeanor violation of 60A-4-401(c). The question squarely before this Honorable Court is this: Is it the criminal conduct that matters or is it the label or grade affixed to the conduct?

Fortunately, it is a question that has been before the State Supreme Court on several occasions in several contexts and the answer to the question has consistently been that the law

looks to the conduct and that the West Virginia courts should use the offense grade—felony, juvenile or misdemeanor-- used in this State, rather than the label affixed by some foreign jurisdiction.

A. OUT OF STATE CONVICTIONS USED IN HABITUAL OFFENDER PROCEEDINGS

In the context of determining what out of State convictions can be used as an enhancement under the Habitual Offender Act, this Court has held that:

Where a defendant has been convicted of a crime in another jurisdiction, which defendant in West Virginia would have been treated as a juvenile offender, such prior conviction may not be used in subsequent proceedings to enhance the defendant's sentence pursuant to the West Virginia Habitual Criminal Statute. W.Va.Code, 61-11-18, 19. Syllabus pt. 2. State ex rel. Justice v Hedrick, 350 S.E.2d 565 (W.Va. 1986).

The principal laid down in the <u>Justice</u> case applies in the instant case even though

Petitioner was not a minor at the time of the Indiana conviction. The law is that an out of State felony conviction may not be used as an enhancement unless the underlying conduct would be a felony in our State. <u>State ex rel. Butler v Hoke</u>, No.11-0866, 2012WL 3091082 (W.Va. May 29, 2012):

The Court has held that in occasions where jurisdictions do not classify crimes in the same manner "it would seem proper that laws of this State should be considered in determining the grade of the crime for which there have been former convictions, quoting Justice, Id at 568

In the present case the State used the out-of-State conviction for the grounds for Petitioner's disqualification to possess a firearm. However, if Petitioner had committed the same conduct in West Virginia he would not be so disqualified. It makes little sense to conclude that the Legislature's goal in passing W.Va. Code 61-7-7 was to place a different burden on persons convicted of a crime depending on which State the crime is committed. A more sensible reading of the relevant statutory scheme is that the Legislature means to keep prevent certain criminals from possessing a firearm regardless of where the criminal conduct occurred.

West Virginia is not alone in examining the conduct leading to an out of State conviction to determine the grade—felony or misdemeanor—of the offense in State. At least several States have this proper for purposes of enhancing the penalty under a habitual offender scheme:

Alabama Criminal Court of Appeals stated that . . .

"[T]his Court placed emphasis on the 'conduct' made the basis of the prior conviction, rather than where it occurred, or when it occurred This Court, therefore, made the triggering mechanism not whether another jurisdiction might have punished the prior offense by imprisonment for more than one year, but whether Alabama considered the prior 'conduct' so blameworthy as to merit more than one year's imprisonment."

Mitchell v. State, 579 So.2d 45 (Al. 1991)

Louisiana and South Dakota hold likewise. See State v Godfrey, 32 So. 1020 (la. 2010);

and State v Roedder, 923 N.W.2d 537 (S.D.2019).

A person convicted in a foreign jurisdiction of simple possession of a controlled substance is in no way more dangerous than a person convicted of possession of the very same controlled substance in West Virginia. Accordingly, a person whose foreign conviction is labelled a felony should have the same gun rights in West Virginia as a person convicted of the same conduct but in our State.

B. OUT OF STATE CONVICTIONS USED IN OTHER TYPES OF ENHANCEMENTS

Out of State convictions are used for enhancement in at least two other types of cases in State courts: domestic violence and driving under the influence. Logically, and in accordance with the law set forth above, this Honorable Court has held that it is the conduct leading to conviction and not the labels applied by the foreign jurisdictions that matter.

In the area of domestic violence there are stepped penalties whereby subsequent offenses subject one to increasing penalties. W. Va. Code 61-2-28. On occasion the State desires to use an out of State conviction to enhance the penalty faced by the defendant. The State Supreme Court of Appeals had to determine the use and boundaries of out of State domestic violence convictions in State v Hulbert, 544 S.E.2d 919 (W.Va. 2001). In Hulbert the Court determined that foreign convictions could be used to enhance the grade or degree of punishment in domestic violence cases and the Court also determined which foreign

convictions could be used. Therein the Court adopted an elements test: the State could use the

out of State convictions if the elements of the foreign conviction are the same as the elements

in our State law. This looks to the conduct behind the out of State and if the same, then the

prosecution could use it.

The same element test has also been used in driving under the influence cases and the

elements test was adopt in that area. State ex rel. Conley v Hill, 487 S.E.2d 344 (W.Va. 1997).

The lesson the areas of domestic violence and DUI is that courts should not accept the foreign

conviction uncritically, but rather it should examine if the underlying conduct would be treated

the same here. In the matter now before the Court the Indiana conviction should be examined

and be the criminal conduct expressed in the conviction be given no additional weigh due to

the geography of the criminal conduct.

RELIEF REQUESTED

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court hear his appeal and reverse

Petitioner's conviction and dismiss the criminal charges against Petitioner.

RONALD WARD By COUNSEL

Scott A. Ash, Esq.

Counsel for Petitioner

State Bar No. 0172