FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA M FILE

NO. 19-1046

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

RONALD WARD,

Petitioner.



RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE PROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
W.Va. State Bar #: 9354
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833
Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov
Counsel for Respondent

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioner Ronald Ward ("Petitioner") argues a single assignment of error: that the trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss based on the State's use of an Indiana felony conviction as a predicate offense voiding Petitioner's right to possess a firearm.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a traffic stop of Petitioner, wherein a Deputy pulled Petitioner over and, during the ensuing search of the car, found a gun. A.R. 26. A passenger in the vehicle indicated that the firearm belonged to Petitioner. A.R. 26.

Thereafter, Petitioner was indicted by a Summers County Grand Jury on March 5, 2019, on six counts: possession of a firearm by a prohibited person 2nd offense, based on his prior conviction of possession of methamphetamine; driving revoked for DUI 2nd offense, with the first offense being on April 13, 2011; driving a motor vehicle on a public highway with no insurance; improper registration; possession of a controlled substance, to-wit methamphetamine; and, driving suspended for DUI. A.R. 12-13.

Petitioner moved to strike Count 1 of the indictment, arguing that it was "so vague as to fail to clearly state a particular crime." A.R. 21. This motion was granted on June 7, 2019. A.R. 23. Although it is not clear from the appendix record, it appears the deficiencies in the indictment were fixed and Petitioner was indicted a second time on Count 1. A.R. 26.

Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss the subsequent indictment on July 27, 2019. A.R. 26. Petitioner argued that although his prior conviction was a Class D felony in Indiana, where he was convicted, the charge of possession of a controlled substance in West Virginia is not a felony, but instead is a misdemeanor. A.R. 26. Therefore, Petitioner argued that said conviction cannot be used to prohibit him from possessing a firearm pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b). A.R.

27. In support, Petitioner cites to law governing the use of out of state convictions under the Habitual Criminal Statute. A.R. 27-28.

A hearing was held on the motion to dismiss on August 23, 2019. A.R. 35. Petitioner argued that in the case of the Habitual Criminal, or recidivist, statute, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals considers the grade of the offense in West Virginia and does not defer to the grade of the offense in the convicting state. A.R. 36. Petitioner argued that the "general principle" found in the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals recidivist cases should be applied herein to this statute. A.R. 37. In response, the State argued that none of the law cited by Petitioner is applicable to West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b), as all the cited cases relate to the recidivist statute. A.R. 38. The State further argued that a plain reading of this statute shows its purpose: that anyone convicted of a felony in any jurisdiction is not allowed to possess a firearm. A.R. 39. The court took the issue under advisement, but did deny Petitioner's contemporaneous bond request, as he was on bond when the criminal acts alleged herein occurred. A.R. 42-43.

The circuit court denied the motion to dismiss by Order dated October 2, 2019, holding that the purpose behind the unlawful possession of a firearm by a felon statute is different from that of the Habitual Criminal Statute, and, thus, the Petitioner's reliance upon recidivist law was misplaced. A.R. 29-31. The court found that the purpose of the statute under which Petitioner was charged is to prohibit all convicted felons from possessing firearms and that the statutory construction makes clear that it applies to all convicted felons, no matter where the conviction occurred, regardless of whether similar conduct is considered a felony in West Virginia. A.R. 31-32.

Petitioner was convicted, following an October 8, 2019, trial by jury, of the felony offense of Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person and the misdemeanor offenses of Driving

Revoked for DUI 2nd Offense and Driving Suspended. A.R. 2. On October 11, 2019, Petitioner appeared for arraignment on the State's Information seeking enhancement of Petitioner's sentence under the recidivist statute. A.R. 2. Petitioner waived his right to a jury trial and admitted he was the same person previously convicted of a felony offense of Attempted Possession of a Firearm by a Person Prohibited. A.R. 2. The court denied Petitioner's motion for probation or other alternative sentence, and denied the motion for post-conviction bond. A.R. 3. The court also denied Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal. A.R. 4. Petitioner was thereafter sentenced to ten years for his felony conviction of Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person, which represented a determinate period of five years for the conviction and an additional five-year enhancement pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-11-18. A.R. 4. Petitioner was sentenced to time served on the misdemeanor convictions of Driving Suspended and Driving Revoked for DUI 2nd offense. A.R. 4.

Petitioner's sentencing hearing was held on November 1, 2019. A.R. 46. Petitioner moved for judgment of acquittal based on the same argument in his motion to dismiss; namely, that the court cannot use a felony conviction from another jurisdiction that would be considered a misdemeanor offense in West Virginia. A.R. 48. Petitioner also moved for probation or an alternative sentence such as home confinement. A.R. 48. Petitioner argued that he has numerous health issues causing problems for him while incarcerated. A.R. 50. The court noted that Petitioner had numerous prior arrests. A.R. 50. The State argued that it moved for recidivist enhancement based on Petitioner's long history of arrests, including firearm possession charges, drug charges, DUIs, and a fugitive from justice warrant. A.R. 51. The State also noted that Petitioner incurred additional charges after the current ones, while he was on bond. A.R. 52. Those charges included additional charges for possession of methamphetamine as well as another firearms possession.

A.R. 52. Further, Petitioner had home confinement revoked after drug paraphernalia was found.

A.R. 52. The State, therefore, asked for the maximum sentence. A.R. 53. The court sentenced Petitioner to five years of incarceration, which was then enhanced by the recidivist enhancement to ten years. A.R. 53. The Sentencing Order in this matter was filed on November 4, 2019. A.R. 2.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues for a re-interpretation of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7; however, as this code provision is plain and unambiguous, there is no reason to interpret it. The legislative intent behind West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 was clearly to keep convicted felons from possessing firearms, and the provision states specifically that a felony "in any jurisdiction" may be used as a predicate offense. Petitioner relies upon inapplicable interpretations of other code provisions, and, since there is no need to interpret West Virginia Code § 61-7-7, the circuit court's plain language interpretation should be affirmed.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. This case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

"Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review.' Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)" Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Butler, 239 W. Va. 168, 799 S.E.2d 718 (2017).

B. Petitioner was properly found to be a felon convicted of a prior drug offense, making his conviction under West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b)(2) proper.

Petitioner's single assignment of error is that the circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's motions to dismiss based on the State's use of the Indiana felony conviction as a predicate offense. Pet'r Br. 5. Petitioner argues that because possession of methamphetamine is a misdemeanor in West Virginia, the felony conviction in Indiana should not be a valid predicate offense sufficient to allow him to be convicted of being a prohibited person in possession of a firearm. Pet'r Br. 5-6.

Petitioner was convicted of violating the following provision:

- (a) Except as provided in this section, no person shall possess a firearm, as such is defined in section two of this article, who:
- (1) Has been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year;

Any person who violates the provisions of this subsection shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not less than \$100 nor more than \$1,000 or confined in the county jail for not less than ninety days nor more than one year, or both.

- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any person:
- (1) Who has been convicted in this state or any other jurisdiction of a felony crime of violence against the person of another or of a felony sexual offense; or
- (2) Who has been convicted in this state or any other jurisdiction of a felony controlled substance offense involving a Schedule I controlled substance other than marijuana, a Schedule II or a Schedule III controlled substance as such are defined in sections two hundred four, two hundred five and two hundred six, article two, chapter sixty-a of this code and who possesses a firearm as such is defined in section two of this article shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be confined in a state correctional facility for not more than five years or fined not more than \$5,000, or both. The provisions of subsection (f) of this section shall not apply to persons convicted of offenses referred to in this subsection or to persons convicted of a violation of this subsection.

W. Va. Code § 61-7-7 (emphasis added). Petitioner's predicate offense of possession of methamphetamine occurred in the state of Indiana, and he was convicted pursuant to Indiana Code 35-48-4-6.1, which makes possession of methamphetamine a Class D felony. Despite Petitioner's

contentions to the contrary, he was properly convicted of the felony charge of being a prohibited person in possession of a firearm, and the sentencing order herein should be affirmed.

 This Court has found that the purpose of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 is clear and that Petitioner is precisely the category of criminal the Legislature deemed too dangerous to possess a firearm.

A review of this Court's findings regarding the legislative purpose behind West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 demonstrates that Petitioner is the type of person the West Virginia Legislature had in mind when enacting this code provision. This Court has stated that

[t]he West Virginia legislature may, through the valid exercise of its police power, reasonably regulate the right of a person to keep and bear arms in order to promote the health, safety and welfare of all citizens of this State, provided that the restrictions or regulations imposed do not frustrate the constitutional freedoms guaranteed by article III, section 22 of the West Virginia Constitution, known as the 'Right to Keep and Bear Arms Amendment.'

Syl. Pt. 2, Perito v. Cty. of Brooke, 215 W. Va. 178, 597 S.E.2d 311 (2004), quoting Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rel. City of Princeton v. Buckner, 180 W.Va. 457, 377 S.E.2d 139 (1988). Further, this Court has recognized that "[t]he right to bear arms is not absolute." Perito, 215 W. Va. at 182, 597 S.E.2d at 315. The Perito Court found that "[t]he obvious purpose of W. Va. Code § 61-7-7 is to guard the public safety." Id. at 183, 597 S.E.2d at 316. The legislature chose to guard the public safety by limiting the right of convicted felons, such as Petitioner, to own firearms. Consequently, "the Legislature is plainly within its authority to regulate the possession or ownership of firearms by individuals who have been convicted of a felony." Id. at 184, 597 S.E.2d at 317.

Likewise, the federal court has examined this code provision and determined that convicted felons may not possess firearms. *See United States v. Herron*, 38 F.3d 115, 118 (4th Cir. 1994) ("Based on the whole of West Virginia law, we conclude that § 61-7-7 'expressly provides' that a convicted felon may not possess a firearm."). As Petitioner is a convicted felon, the legislative

intent is obviously that he should not possess a firearm. Therefore, the sentencing order in this matter should be affirmed.

2. Since the legislative intent and statutory language are clear, there is no reason for this Court to further interpret West Virginia Code § 61-7-7, and the circuit court was correct in simply applying the statute as written.

It is axiomatic that "[w]hen a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts not to construe but to apply the statute." Syl. Pt. 4, *Perito*, 215 W. Va. 178, 597 S.E.2d 311, *quoting* Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. General Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, Veterans of Foreign Wars*, 144 W.Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959). In the present case, West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 is clear and unambiguous. This code provision demands that any person "[w]ho has been convicted in this state or **any other jurisdiction** of a felony controlled substance offense involving a Schedule I controlled substance other than marijuana, a Schedule II¹ or a Schedule III controlled substance" is guilty of a felony should he or she possess a firearm. W.Va. Code § 61-7-7 (emphasis added). There is no need for this Court to interpret the provision, because it is clear that the Legislature intended that anyone convicted of any felony in any jurisdiction be banned from possessing a firearm.

This Court has reiterated this meaning, stating as follows:

West Virginia Code § 61–7–7 (2000) (Repl.Vol.2000), which prohibits certain persons from possessing firearms and provides a procedure for restoring the ability to possess firearms, applies to all individuals who have been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year. . . .

Syl. Pt. 6, *Perito*, 215 W. Va. 178, 597 S.E.2d 311. In *Perito*, this Court even affirmed the use of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 after a felon was unconditionally pardoned for his prior felonies. *Id*.

¹ Methamphetamine is a Schedule II drug.

This Court found that the legislative intent showed that this provision applied to all those convicted of applicable felonies, even if those felonies were pardoned; thus, it stands to reason that the legislature also intended this provision apply to individuals convicted of felonies in other jurisdictions, since the code section specifically notes convictions in "any other jurisdiction."

The *Perito* Court explored West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 in depth, eliciting the following discussion:

West Virginia Code Section 61–7–7(a) withholds the right to possess a firearm from any person "who has been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year." This language is plain. In similarly plain language, W. Va. Code § 61–7–7(c) provides the procedure for restoring that right in spite of the existence of a conviction. There exists no additional clause excluding from the scope of this statute convictions that have been subject to a pardon. If the Legislature had desired to exclude from the provisions Section 61–7–7(c) those individuals whose convictions had been pardoned, it could easily have done so.

215 W. Va. at 183, 597 S.E.2d at 316. As noted above, had the legislature intended to limit the relevant code provision to only convictions that are felonies in West Virginia or to exclude felony convictions obtained outside of the state, it could easily have done so. Since it did not, this Court should find, again, that the language of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 is plain and needs no further interpretation. Since this code provision is clear and unambiguous, and the plain language of the statute allows for conviction under this provision using an out-of-jurisdiction felony conviction as the predicate offense, the circuit court's order should be affirmed.

 The case law relied upon by Petitioner is inapplicable to West Virginia Code § 61-7-7, and this Court should not succumb to Petitioner's proposed revisions of the statute.

Petitioner's argument below, as well as his petition herein, is premised on Habitual Offender proceedings law promulgated by this Court as well as other courts. Pet'r Br. 6-7. However, the two cases cited are wholly inapplicable to West Virginia Code § 61-7-7. As the

circuit court noted, however, while both code provisions must be subjected to strict construction, West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 "shows a clear intent to enforce the plain statutory language – in this case, the prohibition of *all* convicted felons from possession [of] firearms." A.R. 31-32 (emphasis in original).

Petitioner asks this Court to modify the statutory language of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 from its clear provision that a felony "in any jurisdiction" is sufficient to convict under the statute, to Petitioner's interpretation that a predicate felony must also be qualified as a felony under West Virginia law. This Court, however, has stated that "[a] statute, or an administrative rule, may not, under the guise of 'interpretation,' be modified, revised, amended or rewritten." Syl. Pt. 5, Perito, 215 W. Va. 178, 597 S.E.2d 311, quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Consumer Advocate Division v. Public Service Commission, 182 W.Va. 152, 386 S.E.2d 650 (1989). Furthermore, ""[i]t is not for this Court arbitrarily to read into a statute that which it does not say. Just as courts are not to eliminate through judicial interpretation words that were purposely included, we are obliged not to add to statutes something the Legislature purposely omitted.' Syl. Pt. 11, in part, Brooke B. v. Ray, 230 W.Va. 355, 738 S.E.2d 21 (2013)." Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Butler, 239 W. Va. 168, 799 S.E.2d 718 (2017). Interpreting the statute as Petitioner advocates would be akin to a complete revision of said statute, and would add language that does not appear in the statute. The plain meaning of the statute is clear, and any revisions or interpretations are unnecessary.

As this Court has repeatedly stated, "'[w]here the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation.' Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). Syl. Pt. 2, King v. West Virginia's Choice, Inc., 234 W.Va. 440, 766 S.E.2d 387 (2014)." Syl. Pt. 3, Butler, 239 W. Va. 168, 799 S.E.2d 718. Importantly, this Court has stated:

A statute is enacted as a whole with a general purpose and intent, and each part should be considered in connection with every other part to produce a harmonious whole. Words and clauses should be given a meaning which harmonizes with the subject matter and the general purpose of the statute. The general intention is the key to the whole and the interpretation of the whole controls the interpretation of its parts.

Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rel. Appleby v. Recht, 213 W. Va. 503, 583 S.E.2d 800 (2002) citing Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Holbert v. Robinson, 134 W.Va. 524, 59 S.E.2d 884 (1950). Therefore, this Court should rely on the plain meaning of the statute in this matter, and a plain reading shows that the legislature intended felony convictions "in any jurisdiction" to be sufficient as predicate offenses under West Virginia Code § 61-7-7.

As noted above, Petitioner relies upon this Court's interpretation of the West Virginia Habitual Criminal Statute, West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 and 19. Pet'r Br. 6. Likewise, Petitioner attempts to rely upon other statutory interpretations, such as domestic violence and driving under the influence case law. Pet'r Br. at 8-9. This case law, however, is inapplicable to West Virginia Code § 61-7-7. This Court has stated that "[s]tatutes relating to different subjects are not in *pari materia*." Syl. Pt. 2, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995) (citations omitted). Since Petitioner's case law is inapplicable, and since the statute in question is not subject to judicial interpretation, this Court should affirm the findings of the circuit court.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully asks this Court to affirm the circuit court's sentencing order.